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RECEIVED 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA 

AUG 2 4 2011 

Cl.ERK. U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
80U1lfERN DtSTRICT Of IOWA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, 
a/k/a "Case", and 

KENTRELL VERTNER, 
a/k/a ''Nikki", 

Defendants. 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Criminal No. l:11-cr-023 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 1 

T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 2 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 371 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1201(a)(l) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1591(a)(l) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1591(a)(2) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1591(b)(l) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1594(a) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1594(c) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 1952(a)(3)(A) 
T. 18 U.S.C., Sec. 2421 

Introductory Alle&ations 

1. At all times material hereto, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and 

CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", with other persons, resided in either 

a house in the 2200 block of Florence Boulevard, or a house in the 3900 block of North 40th 

Ave., both in Omaha, NE. 

2. At all times material hereto, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and 

CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", were boyfriend and girlfriend. 

3. At all times material hereto PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", was 

1 This Superseding Indictment does not supersede the original indictment herein against 
Defendant Cheryl Elaine Tucker, who entered a guilty plea to the original Indictment, and is 
pending sentencing 
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approximately 6 feet 4 inches tall, and weighed approximately 250 pounds. 

4. At all times material hereto, KENTRELL VERTNER was an associate of PARRISH 

JASON CASEBIER and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, who represented himself to be a woman, 

who was known as "Nikki", and who was approximately 6 feet, 4 inches tall, weighing 

approximately 275 pounds. 

5. At all times material hereto, KD was an approximately 19-20 year old female from 

Nebraska, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. 

6. At all times material hereto, SM was an approximately 25 year old female from 

Missouri and Kansas, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. 

7. At all times material hereto, SJ was an approximately 22 year old female from 

Minnesota and Nevada, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and who had an 

approximately 16-20 month old child. 

8. At all times material hereto, MW was an approximately 24-25 year old female from 

Nebraska, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. 

9. At all times material hereto, www.Craia;s1ist.or2; www.backl)a2e,com: and 

www.sipsap.com and similar web sites were internet web sites which engaged in interstate 

commerce, including the posting of "advertisements" or "solicitations", and which did business 

across the state-lines of the State of Iowa, including doing business between the Southern District 

oflowa and the State of Nebraska. 

10. As used in this Indictment, the terms ''prostitute" and ''prostitution" refer to a person 

engaging in sex acts for money or other things of value, that is, a comm~rcial sex act. 

11. As used in this Indictment, the term "sex act" includes "sex act" as defined in Title 
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18, United States Code, Section 2246(2)(A)-(D), inclusive. 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Countl 
(Conspiracy to Commit Sex Trafficking) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. As used in Count 1 of this Indictment, the term "conspiracy" means the "sex 

trafficking venture" described herein. 

3. Beginning on or about the spring of 2009, and continuing to on or about February of 

2011, the .exact dates unknown to the Grand Jury, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern 

District oflowa and elsewhere, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", 

CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, 

"Nikki," did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other 

and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit an offense against the 

United States, that is: 

a. to knowingly, in and affecting interstate commerce, recruit, entice, harbor, 

transport, provide, obtain, and maintain, by any means, one or more persons, knowing and in 

reckless disregard of the fact that means of force, threats of force, fraud and coercion, including 

among other means those as described in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(e)(2), and 

any combination of such means, would be used to cause said person or persons to engage in a 

commercial sex act, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(l) and 

1591(b)(l); and 
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b. to knowingly benefit, financially and by receiving anything of value, from 

participation in a venture as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(e)(5), which 

venture was engaged in an act described in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(a)(l), as 

more fully described in subparagraph (1) of this Count, immediately above, and by this reference 

incorporated herein, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 159l(a)(2) and 

1591(b)(l). 

Manner and Means 

4. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," 

provided prostitution services, that is commercial sex act services, in Nebraska and Iowa, 

particularly in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District of Iowa, and in and about 

Omaha, Nebraska and southeast Nebraska. 

5. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy. KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a "Nikki," 

aided and abetted PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE 

TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," in providing said commercial sex act services, including 

serving as a prostitute; transporting female prostitutes serving the conspiracy to commercial sex 

trafficking appointments, including transportation for this purpose, among other locations, 

between Council Bluffs, Iowa, and Omaha, Nebraska; "monitoring one or more of the female 

prostitutes on behalf of PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE 

TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty;" and providing "muscle" to enforce the directives of 

PARRISH JASON CASEBIER and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," 

regarding the female prostitutes and regarding the "johns". 
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6. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", used 

the internet, especially services such aswww.craiaslist.ora,www.backpaae.com, 

www.sipsap.com, to advertize the defendants' prostitution venture and to solicit customers for 

their prostitution, that is, commercial sex act enterprise. The defendants intended to and did 

promulgate said internet advertizing and solicitations in interstate commerce, including, among 

other places, from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs in the Southern District oflowa, and 

from Council Bluffs, Iowa, to in and about Omaha, Nebraska. 

7. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", used 

and caused others to use cell phones and telephones, facilities of interstate commerce, and 

computers (sometimes engaged in interstate commerce), to carry out the conspiracy, including, 

among other acts, taking calls, texts, and emails, to arrange appointments for commercial sex acts 

to be performed on behalf of the venture, and to communicate regarding the carrying out of those 

sex acts. 

8. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

transported and caused women to be transported or to travel in interstate commerce for the 

purpose of engaging in commercial sex acts on behalf of the conspiracy, including, but not 

necessarily limited to, transportation and travel between Council Bluffs in the Southern District 

oflowa, and Omaha, Nebraska. 

9. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 
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CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

knowingly and intentionally set prices for the performance of commercial sex acts by women 

working on behalf of the conspiracy. 

10. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

knowingly and intentionally purchased for and did provide to women serving for the defendants 

as prostitutes, including among others, KD, SJ, SM and MW, clothing, condoms, and other 

items, including items for daily living, to maintain control over said women and to facilitate the 

service of said women as prostitutes, that is to engage in commercial sex acts, on behalf of the 

conspiracy. 

11. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

recruited women to serve as prostitutes for the defendants from various states, including at least 

from Nebraska, Minnesota, Nevada, Missouri and Kansas. 

12. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy and as a part of the recruitment of 

women to serve as prostitutes on behalf of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

transported and caused various women to be transported in interstate commerce as part of the 

recruitment of said women to serve as prostitutes for the conspiracy. 

13. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

knowingly exploited respective vulnerabilities of one or more women, including but not 
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necessarily limited to KD, SJ, SM, and MW by which the defendants intended to and by which 

the defendants did isolate, abuse and manipulate the women, including but not necessarily 

limited to KD, SJ, SM and MW, to recruit and entice into the service of the conspiracy, and then 

coerce them to serve the defendants as prostitutes in the conspiracy. 

14. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy and as a part of the recruitment of 

women to serve as prostitutes on behalf of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

enticed women to join the conspiracy by making representations and promises to the women 

regarding the conditions of working as a prostitute in the conspiracy and the benefit the women 

would receive from working for the conspiracy. At the time the defendants made such 

representations and promises to entice said women to serve as prostitutes for the conspiracy, the 

defendants knew said representations and promises were false and that the defendants would not 

fulfill said representations and promises. In fact, the defendants knowingly failed to fulfill said 

representations and promises once the defendants had the women secured under the control of 

the defendants in the conspiracy, in Council Bluffs in the Southern District oflowa, and in and 

about Omaha, Nebraska. 

15. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

having enticed women to join the defendants' conspiracy by fraudulent representations and 

promises, the defendants forced and coerced said women to continue to serve as prostitutes for 

the defendants by physical and psychological abuse, including among other acts, sexually 

abusing women, whipping women with a belt, choking women, striking women, and performing 
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'fstrip searches" of women. Said physical and psychological abuse was used against said women 

by the defendants for the purpose of controlling said women, including to keep them from 

leaving the conspiracy, to perform types of commercial sex acts they did not want to perform, to 

punish them if they did not give all of the money from commercial sex acts to the defendants, to 

punish them if they displayed a "bad attitude" toward PARRISH JASON CASEBIER or 

CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, and to keep them from talking to law enforcement about the 

consp1racy. 

16. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

seized from women serving as prostitutes in the conspiracy, identification documents and 

medical records, in order to restrict the women's ability to leave the conspiracy, including to 

travel in interstate commerce to do so. 

17. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

restricted the ability of women serving as prostitutes in the conspiracy to use means of 

communication, including among others, use of cell phones and telephones, to incoming-calls to 

make appointments for commercial sex acts. 

18. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", took 

and attempted to take, for the benefit of the defendants, all of the money made by women serving 

as prostitutes for the conspiracy. The defendants also, for the benefit of the defendants, seized 

from women, serving and to serve as prostitutes for the conspiracy, against the will of said 
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women, money held by some of said women, which money was not from the commercial sex 

acts. To enforce the taking of money from said women, the defendants, especially PARRISH 

JASON CASEBIER, at times "strip searched" some of said women, and physically punished said 

women if they were found to be withholding money from the defendants. 

19. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

monitored and caused the monitoring of the whereabouts of women serving as prostitutes in the 

conspiracy, to compel said women not to leave serving as prostitutes for the defendants. 

20. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

forced and coerced women, including among other means, coercion as defined in Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1591(e)(2), to engage in criminal and other activities which promoted the 

purposes of the conspiracy, including but not limited to the performance of commercial sex acts 

in the Southern District of Iowa and elsewhere. 

21. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", used 

motels in Council Bluffs in the Southern District of Iowa, among other locations, as a location 

from which to operate the conspiracy, including, but not limited to, posting internet solicitations, 

engaging in cell phone calls and texts, and engaging in commercial sex acts. 

22. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

knowingly engaged in a scheme, plan, or pattern intended to cause one or more persons, 
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including, but not necessarily limited to KD, SJ, SM and MW, to believe that failure to continue 

to serve as a prostitute for the defendants would result in serious harm to or physical restraint 

respectively against said persons. 

23. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat", "Phatty", 

knowing and in reckless disregard that force, fraud and coercion were used against women 

serving as prostitutes for the defendants, to cause said women to perform commercial sex acts on 

behalf of the conspiracy, knowingly received financial benefit, including money, from the 

commercial sex acts performed by women serving as prostitutes on behalf of the conspiracy. 

24. During and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER a/k/a "Case" and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER a/k/a "Phat-Phat" "Phatty" 
' ' ' ' ' ' 

knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distributed to one or more men receiving commercial 

sex act services from the conspiracy, cocaine base, that is, "crack cocaine", a Schedule II 

controlled substance. 

Overt Acts 

25. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve its objects, the Defendants, PARRISH 

JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," 

and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," knowingly (including with reckless disregard 

regarding financially benefitting from the venture) and willfully committed, aided and abetted, 

caused to be committed and had reasonable foreseeability of the following overt acts, among 

others, in the Southern District of Iowa and elsewhere, beginning in or about the spring of 2009, 

and continuing to in or about February of 2011. 
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25 .1 - 25 .24. In or about the spring of 2009, the defendants began providing commercial 

sex act services for the conspiracy to a man in southeast Nebraska, whose identity is known to 

the Grand Jury. Said commercial sex act services were provided approximately twenty four 

times, continuing to in or about February or March of 2011. Said sex act services were provided 

to the man in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District oflowa, and in Nebraska. 

25.25-25.49. On or about each occasion that the defendants provided commercial sex act 

services as described in paragraphs 25 .1 through 25 .24, immediately above, the defendants also 

knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully distributed cocaine base, that is "crack cocaine", to said 

man. 

25.50. In or about the spring of 2009, the defendants recruited MW to serve as a 

prostitute on behalf of the conspiracy, beginning her service as a prostitute for the defendants at a 

motel near a casino in Council Bluffs, Iowa. 

25.51- 25.151. From in or about the spring of 2009, and continuing to in or about the 

present, MW performed at least 100 to 200 appointments for commercial sex acts for the 

defendants, including appointments in Nebraska and Iowa, of which more than half of the 

commercial sex act appointments were in the Southern District of Iowa, and which involved 

transportation of MW from Nebraska to Iowa for the purpose of engaging in commercial sex acts 

for the defendants. Each of the defendants has at various times transported MW to commercial 

sex act appointments, including each of the defendants transporting MW to Council Bluffs, Iowa. 

25.152. Between the spring of 2009, and continuing to on or about the present, 

PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, on various occasions physically assaulted, including but not 

limited to sexually assaulted, MW. 
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25.153. In or about May and June of 2010, the defendants, recruited SM to serve as a 

prostitute on behalf of the conspiracy. 

25.154. On or about June 6, 2010, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, transported SM from 

Kansas City, Missouri, to Omaha, Nebraska, and then to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to serve as a 

prostitute for the defendants. 

25.155. On or about June 6, 2010, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER forcibly took from 

SM almost all of the money SM had brought from Kansas f:ity with her. 

25.156. From on or about June 6, to June 8, 2010, SM, performed commercial sex acts 

on behalf of the defendants at a motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa. This involved SM being 

transported from Nebraska to Iowa for the purpose of engaging in commercial sex acts for the 

defendants. 

25.157. Between on or about June 6-8, 2010, SM was taken by PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER from the motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, to a motel in Omaha, Nebraska, at which 

SM engaged in a commercial sex act at the direction of the defendants and for their financial 

benefit. 

25.158. On or about June 7, 2010, at the motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, PARRISH 

JASON CASEBIER, whipped SM with a belt and otherwise assaulted her. 

25.159. On or about June 7, 2010, the defendants tricked KD into being transported in a 

vehicle in which CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER was located, and then forcibly transported KD, 

against her will, from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to serve as a prostitute on 

behalf of defendants. 

25.160. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, KD was coerced by the defendants to perform 
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commercial sex acts in a motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa; as part of the conspiracy. 

25.161. On or about June 7, or 8, 2010, at the motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, PARRISH 

JASON CASEBIER whipped KD with a belt and otherwise assaulted her. 

25.162. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, in Council Bluffs, Iowa, KENTRELL 

VER TNER, at the direction of the other defendants, monitored the movements of KD about the 

motel at which the prostitution services were being performed. 

25.163. In or about October of 2010, in Minnesota, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER 

recruited SJ to serve as a prostitute for him, but actually, unknown to SJ at the time, for the 

consptracy. 

25.164. On or about October 23, 2010, the defendants caused SJ to travel from 

Minnesota, to Omaha, Nebraska on behalf of the conspiracy. 

25.165. From on or about November of 2010, to on or about February of 2011, SJ 

performed commercial sex acts on behalf of the conspiracy. These included commercial sex acts 

performed in Council Bluffs, Iowa, and in Omaha and other locations in Nebraska, and involved 

the transportation of SJ from Nebraska to Iowa for the purpose of engaging in commercial sex 

acts for the defendants. 

25.166-25.167. SJ was arrested twice in November of 2010, for prostitution at times she 

was acting for and at the direction of the defendants, once in Council Bluffs, Iowa, and once in 

Omaha, Nebraska. SJ was transported from Nebraska to Iowa for the purpose of engaging in the 

commercial sex acts in Council Bluffs, resulting in the arrest of SJ in November of 2010. 

25.168. On or about mid- to late-December of 2010, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER 

threatened to kill SJ. 
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25.169. On or about January 21, 2011, SJ was transported by KENTRELL VERTNER, 

from Omaha, Nebraska, to a motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, and there performed commercial sex 

acts at the direction of the defendants. 

25.170. On or about February of 2011, other than the other dates in February of 2011, set 

forth below, SJ was transported from Omaha, Nebraska, to a motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, by 

PARRISHJASON CASEBIER, and performed commercial sex acts at the direction of the 

defendants. 

25.171. On or about February 11, 2011, SJ was transported from Omaha, Nebraska, to a 

motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, at which SJ performed commercial sex acts at the direction of the 

defendants. SJ was transported by CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER. 

25.172. On or about February 12, 2011, SJ was transported from Omaha, Nebraska, to a 

motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, for the purpose of performing commercial sex acts, and did there 

perform commercial sex acts at the direction of the defendants. 

25 .173. On or about February 15, 2011, SJ and PARRISH JASON CASEBIER were 

arrested at a motel in Council Bluffs, Iowa, in a "prostitution sting", in which officers had by 

telephone contacted telephone number 402.5**. ***O (with the actual number known to the 

Grand Jury), in answer to posting number 2***7*4 (with the actual number known to the Grand 

Jury), on www.backpaiie.com . PARRISH JASON CASEBIER had on said date transported SJ 

from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, for the purpose of engaging in commercial sex 

acts at the direction of the defendants. 

25.174. Beginning on or about November 1, 2010, and continuing to on or about 

February 15, 2011, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER on various occasions engaged in physical . 
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and psychological abuse of SJ, including but not limited to whipping her with a belt and sexual 

abuse. 

25 .175. During the period of time during the conspiracy in which PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER was incarcerated after June 8, 2010, KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a "Nikki," made 

almost daily postings of solicitations for prostitution on behalf of the conspiracy to the internet. 

25.176. On at least one occasion after PARRISH JASON CASEBIER was incarcerated 

after June 8, 2010, KENTRELL VER TNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," on behalf of the conspiracy, took 

MW to an ATM to get MW's SSI benefit money to give to PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a 

"Case," and CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat", "Phatty." 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1594( c ). 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count2 
(Engaging in and Attempting to Engage in Sex Trafficking 

and Financially Benefitting Therefrom) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. The Grand Jury .realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 2-25, 

and subparagraphs thereof, inclusive, of Count 1, above, of this Indictment, as though fully set 

forth herein. 

3. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District 

oflowa and elsewhere, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," CHERYL 

ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," did 

knowingly, in and affecting interstate commerce, recruit, entice, harbor, transport, provide, 
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obtain, and maintain, by any means, a person, that is, KD, knowing and in reckless disregard of 

the fact that means of force, threats of force, fraud and coercion, including among other means 

those described in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(e)(2), and any combination of such 

means were used and would be used to cause KD to engage in one or more commercial sex acts, 

in that, as a part of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, the defendants 

transported and caused KD to be transported from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to 

engage in one or more commercial sex acts in Council Bluffs, and the defendants benefitted 

financially and by receiving anything of value from the commercial sex acts performed by KD as 

a part of the conspiracy. 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(l), 159l(a)(2), 

1594(a), 2, and 159l(b)(l). 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count3 
(Use of the Internet in Aid of Unlawful Activity) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 2-25, 

and subparagraphs thereof, inclusive, of Count 1, above, of this Indictment, as though fully set 

forth herein. 

3. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District 

of Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendant, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", did 

knowingly and willfully use and cause the use of a facility in interstate commerce, that is, the 
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internet, with the intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and facilitate the promotion, 

management, establishment, and carrying on of an unlawful activity, to-wit, a venture involving 

prostitution, that is, engaging in commercial sex acts, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1591(a)(l) and 1591(a)(2), in that the defendant posted and caused to be posted 

on craigslist.org a solicitation seeking appointments for prostitution regarding KD, which 

solicitation expressly advertised that the service was available to "Omaha" and "[Surrounding 

Areas]", with Council Bluffs, Iowa being a contiguous suburb of Omaha, Nebraska, and 

thereafter performed and attempted to perform one or more acts to promote, manage, establish, 

carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment, and carrying on of said 

unlawful activity, including among other acts, telephone communications to arrange and carry 

out the prostitution appointment; and KD performing commercial sex acts at said motel in 

Council Bluffs, Iowa, referred to in Count 2, above. 

4. The above violation was committed and carried out in the course of and in 

furtherance of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, while PARRISH JASON 

CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," was a member of the conspiracy charged in Count 1 of this 

Indictment, and while the Defendants, CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," 

"Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a "Nikki," were members of the conspiracy, and 

which Use of the Internet in Aid of Unlawful Activity was reasonably foreseeable to and, 

therefore, attributable to CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and 

KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," as a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1952(a)(3)(A).2 

2 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) 
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This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952(a)(3)(A). 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count4 
(Engaging in and Attempting to Engage in Sex Trafficking 

and Financially Benefitting Therefrom) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 2-25, 

and subparagraphs thereof, inclusive, of Count 1, above, of this Indictment, as though fully set 

forth herein. 

3. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District 

of Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," CHERYL 

ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a "Nikki," did 

knowingly, in and affecting interstate commerce, recruit, entice, harbor, transport, provide, 

obtain, and maintain, by any means, a person, that is, SM, knowing and in reckless disregard of 

the fact that means of force, threats of force, fraud and coercion, including among other means 

those described in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(e)(2), and any combination of such 

means were used and would be used to cause SM to engage in a commercial sex act, in that, as a 

part of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, the defendants transported and 

caused SM to be transported from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to engage in one or 

more commercial sex acts in Council Bluffs; and then while in Council Bluffs, Iowa, on one 

occasion, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," transported SM from Council Bluffs, 

Iowa, to Omaha, Nebraska, to perform commercial sex acts for the conspiracy, and the 
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defendants benefitted financially and by receiving anything of value from the commercial sex 

acts performed by SM as a part of the conspiracy. 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(l), 1591(a)(2), 

1594(a), 2, and 159l(b)(l). 

THE GRAND .JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Counts 
(Use of the Internet in Aid of Unlawful Activity) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 2-25, 

and subparagraphs thereof, inclusive, of Count 1, above, of this Indictment, as though fully set 

forth herein. 

3. On or about June 7, and 8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District 

of Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendant, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", did 

knowingly and willfully use and cause the use of a facility in interstate commerce, that is, the 

internet, with the intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on and facilitate the promotion, 

management, establishment, and carrying on of an unlawful activity, to-wit, a venture involving 

prostitution, that is, engaging in commercial sex acts, in violatio~ of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1591(a)(l) and 1591(a)(2), in that the defendant posted and caused to be posted 

on craigslist.org a solicitation seeking appointments for prostitution regarding SM, which 

solicitation expressly advertised that the service was available to "Omaha" and "[Surrounding 

Areas]", with Council Bluffs, Iowa being a contiguous suburb of Omaha, Nebraska, and 
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thereafter performed and attempted to perform one or more acts to promote, manage, establish, 

carry on and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment, and carrying on of said 

unlawful activity, including among other acts, telephone communications to arrange and carry 

out the prostitution appointment; and SM performing commercial sex acts at said motel in 

Council Bluffs, Iowa; and for one appointment, with PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a 

"Case," transporting SM to a motel in Omaha, Nebraska to perform commercial sex acts, all as 

referred to in Count 4, above. 

4. The above violation was committed and carried out in the course of and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, while PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, 

a/k/a "Case," was a member of the conspiracy charged in Count 1 ofthis Indictment, and while 

the Defendants, CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL 

VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," were members of the conspiracy, and which Use of the Internet in Aid 

of Unlawful Activity was reasonably foreseeable to and, therefore, attributable to CHERYL 

ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," as 

a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952(a)(3)(A). 3 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952(a)(3)(A). 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count6 
(Engaging in and Attempting to Engage in Sex Trafficking 

and Attempting to Financially.Benefit Therefrom) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

3 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) 
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2. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 2-25, 

and subparagraphs thereof, inclusive, of Count 1, above, of this Indictment, as though fully set 

forth herein. 

3. On or about February 15, 2011, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District of 

Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendant, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," did 

knowingly, in and affecting interstate commerce, recruit, entice, harbor, transport, provide, 

obtain, and maintain, by any means, a person, that is, SJ, knowing and in reckless disregard of 

the fact that means of force, threats of force, fraud and coercion, including among other means 

those described in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591(e)(2), and any combination of such 

means were used and would be used to cause and attempt to cause SJ to engage in a commercial 

sex act, in that, as a part of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, the defendant 

transported SJ from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to engage in a commercial sex 

act in Council Bluffs, and the defendants attempted to benefit financially and by receiving 

anything of value from the commercial sex acts intended to be performed by SJ as a part of the 

consp1racy. 

4. The above violation was committed and carried out in the course of and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, while PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, 

a/k/a "Case", was a member of the conspiracy charged in Count 1 of this Indictment, and while 

the Defendants, CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL 

VERTNER, a/k/a ''Nikki," were members of the conspiracy, and which Engaging in and 

Attempting to Engage in Sex Trafficking was reasonably foreseeable to and, therefore, 

attributable-to CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL 
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VER1NER, a/k/a "Nikki," as a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(l) 

and 1594(a).4 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591(a)(l), 1591(a)(2), 

1594(a), 2, and 1591(b)(l). 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count7 
(Conspiracy to Engage in Interstate Transportation for Prostitution) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-11, 

inclusive, of the Introductory Allegations of this Indictment, as though fully set forth herein. 

2. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 4 -12, 

inclusive, 18, 21, 24, 25, 25.1-25.24, 25.25-25.49, 25.50, 25.51-25.151, 25.153, 25.154, 25.156, 

25.157, 25.159, 25.160, 25.162, 25.163, 25.164, 25.165, 25.166-25.167, 25.169, 25.170, 25.171, 

25.172, 25.173, and 25.175, inclusive, of Count 1, above, as though fully set forth herein, and 

Counts 8 and 9 of this Indictment in their entirety, as though fully set forth herein, all of which 

constitute overt acts, among others, performed during and on behalf of the conspiracy described 

in this Count 7. · 

3. As used in Count 7 of this Indictment, the term "conspiracy" means the "conspiracy to 

transport women in interstate commerce for prostitution" which is further described herein. 

4. Beginning on or about the spring of 2009, and continuing to on or about February of 

2011, the exact dates to the Grand Jury unknown, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern 

District oflowa and elsewhere, the Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case", 

4 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) 
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CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, 

''Nikki," did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other 

and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit an offense against the 

United States, that is, to transport in interstate commerce one or more women for the purpose of 

engaging in prostitution, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421. 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count8 
(Interstate Transportation for Prostitution) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-3 

inclusive, of Count 7 of this Indictment. 

2. On or about June 6-8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District of 

Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendant, CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," 

did knowingly and willfully transport KD, in interstate commerce, that is, from Omaha, 

Nebraska, to Council Bluffs, Iowa, with the intent that such individual engage in prostitution. 

3. The above violation was committed and carried out in the course of and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy set forth in Count 7 of this Indictment, which is by this reference incorporated 

herein as though set forth herein in full, while CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," 

"Phatty," was a member of the conspiracy charged in Count 7 of this Indictment, and while the 

Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, 

''Nikki," were members of the conspiracy, and which Interstate Transportation for Prostitution 

was reasonably foreseeable to and, therefore, attributable to PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, 
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a/k/a "Case," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, "Nikki," as a violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 2421.5 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421. 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

Count9 
(Interstate Transportation for Prostitution) 

1. The Grand Jury realleges and by this reference incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-3 

inclusive, of Count 7 ofthis Indictment. 

2. On or about June 6-8, 2010, in and about Council Bluffs in the Southern District of 

Iowa and elsewhere, the Defendant, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case,"did knowingly 

and willfully transport SM, in interstate commerce, that is, from Omaha, Nebraska, to Council 

Bluffs, Iowa, with the intent that SM engage in prostitution. 

3. The above violation was committed and carried out in the course of and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy set forth in Count 7 of this Indictment, which is by this reference incorporated 

herein as though set forth herein in full, while PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," was 

a member of the conspiracy charged in Count 7 of this Indictment, and while the Defendants, 

CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, 

"Nikki," were members of the conspiracy, and which Interstate Transportation for Prostitution 

was reasonably foreseeable to and, therefore, attributable to CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, a/k/a, 

"Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, "Nikki," as a violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2421.6 

5 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) 

6 Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) 
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This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421. 

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES: 

CountlO 
(Kidnapping) 

On or about June 6, to 8, 2010, in and about the Southern District oflowa and elsewhere, 

the Defendants, PARRISH JASON CASEBIER, a/k/a "Case," CHERYL ELAINE TUCKER, 

a/k/a, "Phat-Phat," "Phatty," and KENTRELL VERTNER, a/k/a, "Nikki," knowingly, willfully 

and unlawfully seized, confined, inveigled, decoyed, kidnapped, abducted, and carried away and 

held, for reward and otherwise, KD; that is, the defendants did transport and cause to be 

transported in interstate commerce KD, for the purpose of coercing KD to engage in prostitution, 

that is, commercial sex acts, as more fully described in Counts 1, 2, 7 and 8, above, by this 

reference incorporated herein. 

This is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1201(a)(l) and 2. 

A TRUE BILL. 

United States Attorney 
Nicholas A. Klinefeldt 

By: SIStephen Patrick O 'Meara 
Stephen Patrick O'Meara 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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